

Evidence and Procedure (New Zealand) Act 1994

Act No. 111 of 1994 as amended

[Note: This Act is to be repealed by Act No. 36 of 2010 see s. 2(1) For saving provision see Act No. 36, 2010, Schedule 2 (item 2)]

This compilation was prepared on 16 August 2010 taking into account amendments up to Act No. 103 of 2010

The text of any of those amendments not in force on that date is appended in the Notes section

The operation of amendments that have been incorporated may be affected by application provisions that are set out in the Notes section

Prepared by the Office of Legislative Drafting and Publishing, Attorney-General's Department, Canberra

Contents

Part 1—Pre	elimina	ary	1
	1	Short title [see Note 1]	1
	2	Commencement [see Note 1]	1
	3	Definitions	1
	4	Extended definitions of court etc	3
	5	External Territories	4
	6	Act to bind Crown	4
	6A	Application of the Criminal Code	4
Part 2—Au	stralia	n subpoenas	5
	7	Application of this Part	5
	8	Service of subpoenas in New Zealand	
	9	Subpoenas not to be served without leave	
	10	How subpoenas are to be served in New Zealand	
	11	Expenses	
	12	Subpoenas not requiring attendance	
	13	Applications to set subpoenas aside	
	14	Setting aside subpoenas	
	15	Entitlement to expenses	
	16	Non-compliance with subpoenas	
	17	Courts' other powers unaffected	10
Part 3—Nev	w Zeal	and subpoenas	11
	18	Application of this Part	11
	19	Service of subpoenas in Australia	
	20	Obligation to comply with subpoenas	
	21	Non-compliance with subpoenas	
	22	Documents etc. for transmission to a New Zealand court	
	23	Other powers to serve subpoenas unaffected	13
Part 4—Use	e of vid	leo links or telephones in Australian	
pro	oceedir	ngs	14
•	24	Application of this Part	14
	25	Australian courts may take evidence etc. from New Zealand	
	26	Taking evidence by video link	
	27	Taking evidence by telephone	
	28	Expenses	
	29	New Zealand counsel entitled to practise in Australia during	
		video links etc	15

Part 5—U	J se of vic	leo links or telephones in New Zealand	
p	roceedii	ngs	17
_	30	New Zealand courts may take evidence etc. from Australia	17
	31	Powers of New Zealand courts	17
	32	Orders made by New Zealand courts	17
	33	Enforcement of orders	18
	34	Privileges, protection and immunity of participants in New Zealand proceedings	18
	35	New Zealand courts may administer oath in Australia	18
	36	Assistance to New Zealand courts	19
	37	Contempt of New Zealand courts	19
Part 6—H	Evidence	of certain New Zealand matters	21
	38	Application of this Part	21
	39	Faxes	21
	40	Matters of law	21
	41	Evidence of New Zealand official instruments	22
	42	Evidence of New Zealand acts of state	22
	43	Evidence of public documents admissible in New Zealand under New Zealand Acts	23
	44	Evidence of other New Zealand public documents	23
	45	Evidence of New Zealand documents of a public nature	
	46	Part not to derogate from existing Australian laws	24
Part 7—N	Miscellar	neous	25
	47	Application of the Foreign Judgments Act 1991	25
	48	Rules of Court	
	49	Regulations	26
Notes			27

An Act about certain matters relating to evidence and procedure in Australia and New Zealand, and for related purposes

Part 1—Preliminary

1 Short title [see Note 1]

This Act may be cited as the *Evidence and Procedure (New Zealand) Act 1994*.

2 Commencement [see Note 1]

- (1) Sections 1 and 2 commence on the day on which this Act receives the Royal Assent.
- (2) The remaining provisions of this Act commence on a day to be fixed by Proclamation.

3 Definitions

(1) In this Act, unless the contrary intention appears:

court includes the extended meaning given in section 4.

document means any record of information, and includes:

- (a) anything on which there is writing; or
- (b) anything on which there are marks, figures, symbols or perforations having a meaning for persons qualified to interpret them; or
- (c) anything from which sounds, images or writings can be reproduced with or without the aid of anything else; or
- (d) a map, plan, drawing or photograph.

excluded family proceeding means:

- (a) a proceeding in respect of an application made under the Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction signed at The Hague on 25 October 1980; or
- (b) a proceeding relating to the status or property of a person who is not fully able to manage his or her own affairs.

Note:

The text of the Convention referred to in paragraph (a) is set out in Australian Treaty Series 1987 No. 2 ([1987] ATS 2). In 2009, the text of a Convention in the Australian Treaty Series was accessible through the Australian Treaties Library on the AustLII website (www.austlii.edu.au).

expenses, in relation to a subpoena, include the reasonable costs of:

- (a) necessary travel to and from, and accommodation at, the place where complying with the subpoena is required; or
- (b) finding, collating and producing a document or thing; for the purposes of complying with the subpoena.

fax, in relation to a document, means a copy of the document that has been reproduced by facsimile telegraphy.

federal court includes the extended meaning given in section 4.

inferior court means a court that is not a superior court.

New Zealand Act means an Act of the Parliament of New Zealand.

New Zealand Minister means a Minister of the Crown of New Zealand.

official instrument includes a proclamation, commission, appointment, warrant or order.

person named, in relation to a subpoena, means the person to whom the subpoena is addressed.

public document includes:

- (a) a record required by New Zealand law to be kept of a public document or proceeding; or
- (b) an entry in a public register or book; or
- (c) a certificate issued by a New Zealand officer under New Zealand law.

spouse includes de facto spouse.

subpoena means a subpoena to give evidence, a subpoena for production or a subpoena that is both a subpoena to give evidence and a subpoena for production, but does not include a process that requires a person to produce a document in connection with discovery and inspection of documents.

subpoena for production means a process that requires the person named to attend as directed by the order and produce a document or thing for the purpose of evidence.

subpoena to give evidence means a process that requires the person named to attend as directed by the order for the purpose of giving evidence.

superior court means:

- (a) the High Court; or
- (b) the Federal Court of Australia or the Family Court of Australia; or
- (c) the Supreme Court of a State or Territory.
- (2) A reference in this Act to a subpoena issued by a court is a reference to a subpoena issued by or out of the court.

4 Extended definitions of *court* etc.

- (1) A tribunal is taken for the purposes of a Part of this Act to be a court if the regulations so provide.
- (2) Regulations made for the purposes of subsection (1) may specify, in relation to a particular tribunal, any one or more Parts of this Act other than this Part or Part 6.
- (3) A member of a tribunal that, under this section, is taken to be a court for the purposes of a Part of this Act is, for the purposes of that Part, taken to be a judge of such a court.
- (4) If the tribunal is established under a law of the Commonwealth, any reference in this Act to a federal court, in addition to the meaning given by paragraph 26(b) of the *Acts Interpretation Act* 1901, includes a reference to that tribunal.
- (5) In this section:

tribunal means a person or body authorised by or under a law of the Commonwealth, a State, a Territory or New Zealand to take evidence on oath or affirmation, but does not include:

- (a) a court; or
- (b) a person exercising a power conferred on the person as a judge, magistrate, coroner or officer of a court.

5 External Territories

This Act extends to each external Territory.

6 Act to bind Crown

This Act binds the Crown in all its capacities.

6A Application of the Criminal Code

Chapter 2 of the *Criminal Code* applies to all offences against this Act.

Note: Chapter 2 of the *Criminal Code* sets out the general principles of

criminal responsibility.

4

Part 2—Australian subpoenas

7 Application of this Part

This Part applies to a subpoena that is issued in a proceeding, other than a criminal proceeding or an excluded family proceeding, in:

- (a) a federal court; or
- (b) a court of a State or Territory that is a court specified in regulations made for the purposes of this paragraph.

8 Service of subpoenas in New Zealand

- (1) Subject to the regulations and any applicable Rules of Court, the subpoena may be served in New Zealand if leave is given under section 9.
- (2) The subpoena may require the person named to attend to give evidence or produce documents at a place in Australia or a place in New Zealand.

9 Subpoenas not to be served without leave

- (1) If the proceeding is in a superior court, the subpoena must not be served in New Zealand without the leave of a judge of the court.
- (2) If the proceeding is in an inferior court, the subpoena must not be served in New Zealand without the leave of a judge of:
 - (a) in any case—the Federal Court of Australia; or
 - (b) if the inferior court is a court of a particular State or Territory—the Supreme Court of that State or Territory.
- (3) Without limiting the matters that the judge may take into account in deciding whether to give leave, the judge is to take into account:
 - (a) the significance of the evidence to be given, or the document or thing to be produced, by the person named; and
 - (b) whether the evidence, document or thing could be obtained by other means without significantly greater expense, and with less inconvenience to the person named.
- (4) In giving leave, the judge:

- (a) is to impose a condition that the subpoena not be served after a specified day; and
- (b) may impose other conditions.
- (5) The judge must not give leave if the person named is less than 18 years old.

10 How subpoenas are to be served in New Zealand

- (1) Subject to subsections (2) and (3), service may only be effected in New Zealand in the same way in which the subpoena would be served in the State or Territory in which it was issued.
- (2) Service must be in accordance with the directions (if any) given by the judge in giving leave.
- (3) Service of the subpoena is effective only if it is accompanied by a copy of the order giving leave to serve the subpoena in New Zealand and by a notice in the prescribed form that:
 - (a) sets out the rights and obligations of the person named in relation to the subpoena; and
 - (b) includes information about the way in which an application to have the subpoena set aside may be made.
- (4) If there is no prescribed form for notices accompanying subpoenas issued by a particular court, notices accompanying those subpoenas must be in the corresponding form under the Federal Court Rules, with such modifications as are necessary.
- (5) In this section:

prescribed means prescribed by the regulations or by the Rules of Court of the court a judge of which gave leave for the subpoena to be issued.

11 Expenses

(1) Service of the subpoena is effective only if, at the time of service or at some other reasonable time before the person named is required to comply with it, allowances and travelling expenses sufficient to meet the person's reasonable expenses of complying with the subpoena are paid or tendered to the person.

(2) The reference in subsection (1) to allowances and travelling expenses includes a reference to vouchers tendered in substitution for the whole or part of those allowances and travelling expenses.

12 Subpoenas not requiring attendance

If the subpoena only requires production of a document or thing, it must permit the person named to comply by producing the document or thing at any registry of the High Court of New Zealand not later than 10 days before the date specified in the subpoena as the date on which the document or thing is required for production in the court by which the subpoena was issued.

13 Applications to set subpoenas aside

- (1) The person named in the subpoena may apply for the subpoena to be set aside.
- (2) The application must be made to the court a judge of which gave leave for the subpoena to be served.
- (3) The application must contain an address in Australia or New Zealand that is the applicant's address for service.
- (4) Any document in the proceedings may be served on the applicant by:
 - (a) leaving it at that address; or
 - (b) faxing it to the applicant at that address; or
 - (c) sending it by post to the applicant at that address.
- (5) The Registrar of the court must cause a copy of the application, and any affidavit setting out facts on which the applicant wishes to rely in support of the application, to be served on:
 - (a) the solicitor on the record for the person who obtained leave to serve the subpoena in New Zealand; or
 - (b) if there is no solicitor on the record-that person.
- (6) Without limiting the ways in which the application may be made under the law and rules applicable to the court to which the application is made, it may be made by transmitting the application to the court by fax.

(7) This section is in addition to, and not in derogation of, any Rules of Court.

14 Setting aside subpoenas

- (1) The court may set aside the subpoena in whole or in part.
- (2) The court must set the subpoena aside if:
 - (a) the subpoena requires the person named to attend at a place in Australia and the court is satisfied that:
 - (i) the person does not have the necessary travel documents and cannot by the exercise of reasonable diligence obtain them within the time permitted for compliance with the subpoena; or
 - (ii) were the person to comply with the subpoena, he or she would be liable to be detained for the purpose of serving a sentence; or
 - (iii) the person is liable to a prosecution, or is being prosecuted for an offence, in Australia; or
 - (iv) the person is liable to the imposition of a penalty in civil proceedings in Australia (other than proceedings under the *Trade Practices Act 1974*); or
 - (b) the court is satisfied that the person is subject to a restriction on his or her movements, imposed by law or by order of a court, that is inconsistent with the person complying with the subpoena.
- (3) Without limiting the grounds on which the subpoena may be set aside, the court may set it aside if the court is satisfied that:
 - (a) the evidence to be given by the person named could be obtained satisfactorily by other means without significantly greater expense; or
 - (b) compliance with the subpoena would cause the person hardship or serious inconvenience; or
 - (c) in the case of a subpoena for production:
 - (i) the document or thing should not be taken out of New Zealand: and
 - (ii) satisfactory evidence of the contents of the document, or satisfactory evidence of the thing, can be given by other means. or the person (if any) at whose request the subpoena was issued, objects.

- (4) The court may determine the application without a hearing unless the applicant, or the person (if any) at whose request the subpoena was issued, objects.
- (5) For the purposes of determining the application, the court may hold a hearing by video link or telephone, as the court directs.
- (6) The court must hold a hearing in accordance with subsection (5) if the applicant requests, in the application or within a reasonable time after lodging the application, that the court exercise its powers under that subsection.

15 Entitlement to expenses

- (1) The person named is entitled to payment of an amount equal to the reasonable expenses incurred by the person in complying with the subpoena.
- (2) If the subpoena was issued at the request of a person, the amount must be paid by that person.
- (3) If the subpoena was not issued at the request of a person, the amount must be paid:
 - (a) if the subpoena was issued by a federal court—by the Commonwealth; or
 - (b) in any other case—by the State or Territory in which the subpoena was issued.
- (4) The court out of which the subpoena was issued may make orders to ensure that the person complying with the subpoena receives the amount of the person's reasonable expenses in so complying.

16 Non-compliance with subpoenas

If the person named in the subpoena fails to comply with it, the court out of which it was issued may issue a certificate under the seal of the court stating that:

- (a) leave to serve the subpoena was given by:
 - (i) if the court is a superior court-a judge of the court; or
 - (ii) if the court is an inferior court-a judge of the Federal Court of Australia, or a judge of the Supreme Court in the State or Territory in which the application for leave

to issue the subpoena was made, as the case requires; and

(b) the person named failed to comply with the subpoena.

17 Courts' other powers unaffected

This Part does not limit any powers of a court conferred otherwise than under this Part.

Part 3—New Zealand subpoenas

18 Application of this Part

This Part (other than section 23) applies to a subpoena:

- (a) that was issued in a proceeding in a New Zealand court, other than a criminal proceeding or an excluded family proceeding; and
- (b) in relation to which a Judge of the High Court of New Zealand has given leave for its service in Australia.

19 Service of subpoenas in Australia

The subpoena may be served on a person in Australia by serving it on the person together with:

- (a) a copy of the order of the judge of the High Court of New Zealand granting leave to serve the subpoena in Australia; and
- (b) a notice that:
 - (i) sets out the rights and obligations of the person named in relation to the subpoena; and
 - (ii) includes information about the way in which an application may be made to the High Court of New Zealand to have the subpoena set aside.

20 Obligation to comply with subpoenas

- (1) A person served in Australia with the subpoena must comply with it if:
 - (a) the subpoena was served in accordance with section 19; and
 - (b) the subpoena was served in accordance with the law of New Zealand; and
 - (c) the person is at least 18 years of age; and
 - (d) at the time of service or at some other reasonable time before the person is required to comply, allowances and travelling expenses sufficient to meet the person's reasonable expenses of complying with the subpoena are paid or tendered to the person.

- (2) This section does not affect any right a person has under the law of New Zealand to apply to have the subpoena set aside.
- (3) The reference in paragraph (1)(d) to allowances and travelling expenses includes a reference to vouchers tendered in substitution for the whole or part of those allowances and travelling expenses.

21 Non-compliance with subpoenas

- (1) A person who contravenes section 20:
 - (a) is taken to be in contempt of the Federal Court of Australia; and
 - (b) is punishable accordingly; unless the person establishes that the contravention should be excused.
- (2) In determining whether the contravention should be excused, the Federal Court of Australia may have regard to:
 - (a) any matters that have not been brought to the attention of the High Court of New Zealand, if the Federal Court of Australia is satisfied that:
 - (i) the High Court of New Zealand would have been likely to have set aside the subpoena if the matters had been brought to its attention; and
 - (ii) the failure to bring the matters to the attention of the High Court of New Zealand was not the person's fault, or was the result of an omission by the person that should be excused; and
 - (b) any other matters to which the Federal Court of Australia would have had regard if it had issued the subpoena.
- (3) A certificate under a seal of the New Zealand court out of which the subpoena was issued stating that:
 - (a) a judge of the High Court of New Zealand granted leave to serve the subpoena in Australia; and
 - (b) the person named failed to comply with the subpoena; is evidence of the person's contravention of section 20 unless the person establishes to the satisfaction of the Federal Court of Australia that the person did not in fact contravene that section.
- (4) Findings of fact made by the High Court of New Zealand on an application to that court to set aside the subpoena cannot be

challenged by a person alleged to have contravened section 20 unless that court was deliberately misled in making those findings of fact.

22 Documents etc. for transmission to a New Zealand court

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), the Federal Court of Australia, and any court of a State or Territory that is a court specified in regulations made for the purposes of this subsection, are authorised to receive a document or thing that is required by a subpoena to be produced.
- (2) If, in relation to such a court, the regulations so provide, this section only applies in relation to specified locations of the court's registry.
- (3) If a document or thing is lodged at the registry of such a court in compliance with a subpoena, the Registrar of the court must, as soon as practicable after lodgment, cause:
 - (a) the Registrar of the court that issued the subpoena to be informed, by fax or electronic mail, that the document or thing has been so lodged; and
 - (b) the document or thing to be transmitted to that court.

23 Other powers to serve subpoenas unaffected

This Part does not affect any right or power, conferred by or under a law of New Zealand, to serve a subpoena in Australia on a citizen of New Zealand.

Part 4—Use of video links or telephones in Australian proceedings

24 Application of this Part

This Part applies to a proceeding in:

- (a) a federal court; or
- (b) a court of a State or Territory that is a court specified in regulations made for the purposes of this paragraph.

25 Australian courts may take evidence etc. from New Zealand

- (1) The court may, on the application of a party to a proceeding, direct that evidence be taken or submissions made, by video link or telephone, from New Zealand.
- (2) The court must not make such a direction unless it is satisfied that:
 - (a) the necessary facilities are available or can reasonably be made available; and
 - (b) the evidence or submission can more conveniently be given or made from New Zealand.
- (3) The court may exercise in New Zealand, in connection with taking evidence or receiving submissions by video link or telephone, all its powers which it is permitted, under New Zealand law, to exercise in New Zealand.

26 Taking evidence by video link

Evidence must not be given, and a submission must not be made, by video link unless the courtroom or other place where the court is sitting, and the place where the evidence would be given or the submission would be made, are equipped with video facilities that enable:

(a) persons who are at the courtroom or other place to see and hear the person giving the evidence or making the submission; and (b) persons who are at the place where the evidence is given or the submission is made to see and hear persons at the courtroom or other place.

27 Taking evidence by telephone

Evidence must not be given, and a submission must not be made, by telephone unless the courtroom or other place where the court is sitting, and the place where the evidence would be given or the submission would be made, are equipped with telephone conference facilities that enable:

- (a) persons who are at the courtroom or other place to hear the person giving the evidence or the submission; and
- (b) persons who are at the place where the evidence is given or the submission is made to hear persons at the courtroom or other place.

28 Expenses

- (1) If the court directs evidence to be taken, or submissions to be received, by video link or telephone from a person in New Zealand, the court may make such orders as are just for payment of expenses incurred in connection with taking the evidence or making the submissions.
- (2) Regulations made for the purposes of subsection 4(1) that provide that a particular tribunal (within the meaning of section 4) established by a law of the Commonwealth is a court for the purposes of this Part may also provide that the tribunal cannot make an order under this section against a person other than the Commonwealth.

29 New Zealand counsel entitled to practise in Australia during video links etc.

A person who is entitled to practise as a barrister, solicitor or both before the High Court of New Zealand is entitled to practise as a barrister, solicitor or both:

(a) in relation to the examination-in-chief, cross-examination or re-examination of a witness in New Zealand whose evidence is being given by video link or telephone in a proceeding before a court sitting in Australia; or (b) in relation to the making of submissions by video link or telephone from New Zealand in a proceeding before a court sitting in Australia.

Part 5—Use of video links or telephones in New Zealand proceedings

30 New Zealand courts may take evidence etc. from Australia

A New Zealand court may, for the purposes of a proceeding in New Zealand, take evidence or receive submissions, by video link or telephone, from a person in Australia.

31 Powers of New Zealand courts

- (1) The court may, for the purposes of the proceeding, exercise in Australia, in connection with taking evidence or receiving submissions by video link or telephone, any of its powers except its powers:
 - (a) to punish for contempt; and
 - (b) to enforce or execute its judgments or process.
- (2) The laws of New Zealand (including the Rules of Court) that apply to the proceeding in New Zealand also apply, by force of this subsection, to the practice and procedure of the court in taking evidence or receiving submissions, by video link or telephone, from a person in Australia.
- (3) For the purposes of the court exercising its powers, the place in Australia where the evidence is given or submissions are made is taken to be part of the court.

32 Orders made by New Zealand courts

Without limiting section 31, the court may, by order:

- (a) direct that the proceeding, or a part of the proceeding, be conducted in private; or
- (b) require a person to leave the place in Australia where the giving of evidence or the making of submissions is taking place or is going to take place; or
- (c) prohibit or restrict the publication of evidence given in the proceeding or of the name of a party to, or a witness in, the proceeding.

33 Enforcement of orders

- (1) An order under section 32 must be complied with.
- (2) Subject to the Federal Court Rules, the order may be enforced by a Judge of the Federal Court of Australia as if the order were an order of the Federal Court of Australia.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), a person who contravenes the order:
 - (a) is taken to be in contempt of the Federal Court of Australia; and
 - (b) is punishable accordingly; unless the person establishes that the contravention should be excused.

34 Privileges, protection and immunity of participants in New Zealand proceedings

- (1) A judge or master presiding at or otherwise taking part in the proceeding has, in connection with evidence being taken or submissions being received by video link or telephone from a person in Australia, the same privileges, protection and immunity as a Judge of the Federal Court of Australia.
- (2) A person appearing as a barrister, solicitor or both in the proceeding has, in connection with evidence being taken or submissions being received by video link or telephone from a person in Australia, the same protection and immunity as a barrister has in appearing for a party in a proceeding before the Federal Court of Australia.
- (3) A person appearing as a witness in the proceeding by video link or telephone from Australia has the same protection as a witness in a proceeding in the Federal Court of Australia.

35 New Zealand courts may administer oath in Australia

(1) The court may, for the purpose of obtaining in the proceeding, by video link or telephone, the testimony of a person in Australia, administer an oath or affirmation in accordance with the practice and procedure of the court.

(2) Evidence given by a person on oath or affirmation so administered is, for the purposes of section 35 of the *Crimes Act 1914*, testimony given in a judicial proceeding.

36 Assistance to New Zealand courts

- (1) An officer of an Australian court to which this section applies may, at the request of the New Zealand court:
 - (a) attend at the place in Australia where evidence is to be or is being taken, or submissions are to be or are being made, in the proceeding; and
 - (b) take such action as the New Zealand court directs to facilitate the proceeding; and
 - (c) assist with the administering by the New Zealand court of an oath or affirmation.
- (2) This section applies to:
 - (a) the Federal Court of Australia or the Family Court of Australia; or
 - (b) a court of a State or Territory that is a court specified in regulations made for the purposes of this paragraph.

37 Contempt of New Zealand courts

A person must not, while evidence is being given or a submission is being made in Australia, by video link or telephone, in the proceeding:

- (a) assault in Australia:
 - (i) a person appearing in the proceeding as a barrister, a solicitor or both; or
 - (ii) a witness in the proceeding; or
 - (iii) an officer of an Australian court giving assistance under section 36; or
- (b) threaten, intimidate or intentionally insult:
 - (i) a judge of the New Zealand court who is taking part in the proceeding; or
 - (ii) a Master, Registrar, Deputy Registrar or other officer of that court who is taking part in or assisting in the proceeding; or

Section 37

- (iii) a person appearing in the proceeding as a barrister, a solicitor or both; or
- (iv) a witness in the proceeding; or
- (c) intentionally interrupt or obstruct the proceeding; or
- (d) intentionally disobey an order or direction of the court.

Penalty: Imprisonment for 3 months.

Part 6—Evidence of certain New Zealand matters

38 Application of this Part

- (1) This Part applies to all proceedings in a court in Australia, including such proceedings that:
 - (a) relate to bail; or
 - (b) are interlocutory proceedings or proceedings of a similar kind; or
 - (c) are heard in chambers; or
 - (d) relate to sentencing.
- (2) In this section:

court means:

- (a) a federal court; or
- (b) a court of a State of Territory; or
- (c) a person or body authorised by:
 - (i) a law of the Commonwealth, a State or Territory; or
 - (ii) consent of parties; to hear, receive or examine evidence.

39 Faxes

Subject to any Rules of Court, this Part applies to a fax of a document in the same way as it applies to the original of the document (whether or not the original is itself a copy or an extract of a document).

40 Matters of law

- (1) Proof is not required about the provisions and coming into operation (in whole or in part) of:
 - (a) a New Zealand Act or an Imperial Act in force in New Zealand; or
 - (b) a regulation, rule or by-law made, or purporting to be made, under such an Act; or
 - (c) a Proclamation or order made, or purporting to be made, by the Governor-General of New Zealand under such an Act; or

- (d) an instrument of a legislative character (for example, a rule of court) made, or purporting to be made, under such an Act, being an instrument that is required by or under a law to be published, or the making of which is required by or under a law to be notified, in the New Zealand Gazette.
- (2) A judge, or such other person as is presiding in the proceeding, may inform himself or herself about those matters in any way that he or she thinks fit.

41 Evidence of New Zealand official instruments

Evidence of an official instrument issued by the Governor-General of New Zealand, or by or under the authority of a New Zealand Minister, may be adduced by producing:

- (a) if the instrument was made by the Governor-General in Council of New Zealand-a copy of, or an extract from, the instrument purporting to have been certified as a true copy or extract by the Clerk of the Executive Council of New Zealand; or
- (b) a copy of, or an extract from, the instrument purporting to have been certified as a true copy or extract by a New Zealand Minister.

42 Evidence of New Zealand acts of state

Evidence of a treaty or other act of state of New Zealand may be adduced by producing:

- (a) a copy of it that purports to be sealed with the seal of New Zealand; or
- (b) a book or pamphlet, containing the treaty or act of state, that purports to have been printed by authority of the New Zealand Government; or
- (c) a book or other publication, containing the treaty or act of state, that appears to the court to be a reliable source of information; or
- (d) a book or pamphlet that would be admissible in the courts of New Zealand as evidence of the treaties or acts of state of New Zealand that are contained in the book or pamphlet; or
- (e) a copy of the treaty or act of state that is proved to be an examined copy; or

(f) a document that:

- (i) purports to be a copy of the treaty or act of state; and
- (ii) on which is endorsed, or to which is attached, a certificate by the person who has custody of the original, stating that the document is a true copy of the original.

43 Evidence of public documents admissible in New Zealand under New Zealand Acts

- (1) If, under a New Zealand Act, a public document is admissible in evidence, to any extent or for any purpose, the document is, without further proof, admissible in evidence to the same extent and for the same purpose if it purports to be sealed, stamped, signed, signed and sealed or signed and stamped in accordance with the New Zealand Act.
- (2) If a document is admissible in evidence under subsection (1), a certified copy of it, or a certified extract from it, is also admissible in evidence.

44 Evidence of other New Zealand public documents

If, under New Zealand law, a public document is admissible in evidence, to any extent or for any purpose, without proof of:

- (a) the seal, stamp or signature that authenticates it; or
- (b) the judicial or official character of the person who appears to have signed it; the document is admissible in evidence to the same extent and for the same purpose without such proof.

45 Evidence of New Zealand documents of a public nature

If a document in New Zealand is of such a public nature as to be admissible in evidence in New Zealand on its mere production from proper custody, a copy of, or extract from, it is admissible in evidence if the copy or extract:

- (a) is proved to be an examined copy or extract; or
- (b) purports to be signed and certified as a true copy or extract by a New Zealand officer who certifies that he or she has custody of it.

46 Part not to derogate from existing Australian laws

This Part is in addition to, and not in derogation of, the provisions of any other law in force in Australia.

Part 7—Miscellaneous

47 Application of the Foreign Judgments Act 1991

- (1) This section applies to an order made by a New Zealand court under the Evidence Amendment Act 1994 of New Zealand for the payment of expenses incurred:
 - (a) by a witness in complying with a subpoena served on the witness in Australia under Part 3 of this Act; or
 - (b) in connection with taking evidence or receiving submissions by video link or telephone under Part 5 of this Act.
- (2) The *Foreign Judgments Act 1991* applies to such an order as if it were an enforceable money judgment within the meaning of that Act.
- (3) For the purposes of the application of that Act to such an order:
 - (a) Part 2 of that Act is taken to apply to the order; and
 - (b) unless the order was made by the High Court of New Zealand-the court that made the order is taken to have been an inferior court (within the meaning of that Act) to which that Part applies; and
 - (c) the court is taken to have had jurisdiction to make the order;
 - (d) subparagraphs 7(2)(a)(iv) and (v), paragraph 7(2)(b) and subsections 7(3) and (4) of that Act do not apply in respect of the order.

48 Rules of Court

- (1) The power to make rules regulating the practice and procedure of a court extends to making any rules prescribing all matters necessary or convenient to be prescribed for carrying out or giving effect to this Act.
- (2) Rules so made must not be inconsistent with this Act or with regulations made under section 49.
- (3) Subject to any direction that a court makes in a proceeding, if:

- (a) in the proceeding, a matter arises in relation to which the court has not made rules under this section prescribing practice and procedure; and
- (b) the Federal Court Rules prescribe practice and procedure in relation to the matter but the regulations do not so prescribe; the Federal Court Rules apply in relation to the matter with such modifications as are necessary.
- (4) This section does not affect any power to make rules under any other law.

49 Regulations

- (1) The Governor-General may make regulations prescribing matters:
 - (a) required or permitted by this Act to be prescribed; or
 - (b) necessary or convenient to be prescribed for carrying out or giving effect to this Act.
- (2) The Governor-General must not make regulations for the purposes of subsection 22(1) or paragraph 36(2)(b) specifying a court of a State unless the Governor of the State has requested in writing that the court be so specified.
- (3) The Governor-General must not make regulations for the purposes of subsection 22(1) or paragraph 36(2)(b) specifying a court of the Australian Capital Territory unless the Chief Minister of the Australian Capital Territory has requested in writing that the court be so specified.
- (4) The Governor-General must not make regulations for the purposes of subsection 22(1) or paragraph 36(2)(b) specifying a court of any other Territory unless the Administrator of the Territory has requested in writing that the court be so specified.

Notes to the *Evidence and Procedure (New Zealand)*Act 1994

Note 1

The *Evidence and Procedure (New Zealand) Act 1994* as shown in this compilation comprises Act No. 111, 1994 amended as indicated in the Tables below.

For all relevant information pertaining to application, saving or transitional provisions *see* Table A.

Table of Acts

Act	Number and year	Date of Assent	Date of commencement	Application, saving or transitional provisions
Evidence and Procedure (New Zealand) Act 1994	111, 1994	16 Sept 1994	Ss. 1 and 2: Royal Assent Remainder: 1 Apr 1995 (see Gazette 1995, No. GN8)	
Law and Justice Legislation Amendment (Application of Criminal Code) Act 2001	24, 2001	6 Apr 2001	S. 4(1), (2) and Schedule 26: <i>(a)</i>	S. 4(1), (2)
Law and Justice (Cross Border and Other Amendments) Act 2009	77, 2009	7 Sept 2009	Schedule 3: Royal Assent	Sch. 3 (item 6)
Trade Practices Amendment (Australian Consumer Law) Act (No. 2) 2010	103, 2010	13 July 2010	Schedule 6 (items 1, 56): [see Note 2]	_

Act Notes

- (a) The Evidence and Procedure (New Zealand) Act 1994 was amended by Schedule 26 only of the Law and Justice Legislation Amendment (Application of Criminal Code) Act 2001, subsection 2(1)(a) of which provides as follows:
 - (1) Subject to this section, this Act commences at the later of the following times:
 - (a) immediately after the commencement of item 15 of Schedule 1 to the Criminal Code Amendment (Theft, Fraud, Bribery and Related Offences) Act 2000:

Item 15 commenced on 24 May 2001.

Table of Amendments

Table of Amendments

ad. = added or inserted am. = amended rep. = repealed rs. = repealed and substituted

Provision affected	How affected
Part 1	
S. 3	am. No. 77, 2009
S. 6A	ad. No. 24, 2001
Part 2	
S. 7	am. No. 77, 2009
Part 3	
S. 18	am. No. 77, 2009
Part 4	
S. 25	am. No. 77, 2009
Part 5	
S. 37	am. No. 24, 2001

Note 2

Note 2

Trade Practices Amendment (Australian Consumer Law) Act (No. 2) 2010 (No. 103, 2010)

The following amendment commences on the start of 1 January 2011:

Schedule 6

1 Amendment of Acts

The specified provisions of the Acts listed in this Part are amended by omitting "*Trade Practices Act 1974*" and substituting "*Competition and Consumer Act 2010*".

Evidence and Procedure (New Zealand) Act 1994

56 Subparagraph 14(2)(a)(iv)

As at 16 August 2010 the amendment is not incorporated in the compilation.

Table A

Application, saving or transitional provisions

Law and Justice Legislation Amendment (Application of Criminal Code) Act 2001 (No. 24, 2001)

4 Application of amendments

- (1) Subject to subsection (3), each amendment made by this Act applies to acts and omissions that take place after the amendment commences.
- (2) For the purposes of this section, if an act or omission is alleged to have taken place between 2 dates, one before and one on or after the day on which a particular amendment commences, the act or omission is alleged to have taken place before the amendment commences.

Law and Justice (Cross Border and Other Amendments) Act 2009 (No. 77, 2009)

Schedule 3

6 Application

The amendments made by items 3, 4 and 5 apply in relation to a proceeding commenced on or after the commencement of this item.